1970

## **In The Matter of the Estate Of Amasa Lyman Clark, Also Known As A. L. Clark : Brief of Appellant**

### NATURE OF CASE

This is a case in which the Estate filed a Petition seeking to determine whether or not a contract was valid and should be recognized and carried out by the Estate.

### DISPOSITION MADE BY THE LOWER COURT

The Trial Court found that there was a valid contract and directed specific performance.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to reverse the Trial Court and have the instrument declared a nonenforceable agreement.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. A. L. Clark, the decedent, had been a resident of Davis County for many years and an outstanding citizen of the community. He was one of the founders of the Davis County Bank and had during his lifetime owned considerable stock in the bank. This dispute involves an agreement made just prior to his death involving 530 shares of said stock which was voted, controlled and owned by Mr. A. L. Clark to the time of his death. Mr. A. L. Clark died May 25, 1968, at the age of 103 years and a resident of Davis County, State of Utah. Two months prior to his death he had signed an "Agreement for Sale of Stocks" (Exhibits "A" and "B"). It is the effect or construction of this agreement which is the subject matter of this lawsuit. Mr. Bird, the attorney for Dale D. Clark, prepared this agreement (TR. 36). After the death of A. L. Clark and on February 28, 1969, the Executor of the Estate of Mr. A. L. Clark filed a "Petition for Confirmation of Sale of Personal Property" (R-1). By this Petition, the Estate sought to have the Court confirm the sale of 530 shares of Davis County Bank stock to Mr. Dale Clark for \$31,800.00 (See R-1 and 2)

An objection to the confirmation of sale at the price indicated was filed by four of the heirs of A. L. Clark. The heirs filing the Objection indicated to the Court that they would have no objection to a confirmation of sale if the Court would accept higher and better bids. This was rejected by counsel for Dale D. Clark. An Amended Objection was subsequently filed by the same Objecters and an Answer to the Objection was filed by Dale D. Clark.

The agreement, in its entirety, reads as follows:

### "AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF STOCKS

"In consideration of the settlement of a lawsuit between Dale D. Clark and Howard S. Clark and of the promises herein contained and of the payment of \$100.00 by Dale D. Clark to A. L. Clark, receipt of which by A. L. Clark is hereby acknowledged the following agreement is made by the parties:

- "1. A. L. Clark is the owner of 530 shares of the capital stock of the Davis County Bank which he agrees is sold to Dale D. Clark for the sum of \$60.00 per share, a total price of \$31,800.00.
- "2. Dale D. Clark agrees to pay the said sum of \$31,800.00 for said stock upon demand.
- "3. The stock shall continue to be voted, controlled and owned by A. L. Clark so long as he lives or until he shall be paid in full for said stock following demand for payment and tender of stock by A. L. Clark.
- "4. If there shall be any disagreement as to the interpretation of this agreement, it shall be resolved by arbitration, each party to name one arbitrator and they two to select a third arbitrator, the decision of a majority to be binding upon the parties.

"Dated March 22, 1968, at Farmington, Utah.

Witness

/s/ A. L. Clark

A. L. Clark

/s/ Bonnie S. Evans

/s/ Dale D. Clark

Dale D. Clark"



At the time of the filing of the Amended Objection, the Objecters sought to have it determined whether or not this was a proceeding for the "confirmation of the sale of personal property" under Section 75-10-8, UCA 1953, or if this was a proceeding for the enforcement of a contract under Section 75-11-26, UCA 1953. Upon the hearing of the Petition to file the Amended Objection before the Honorable Thornley K. Swan on April 22, 1969, the Court ruled as follows:

"THE COURT: Well, I believe, Mr. Conder, while the petition is entitled 'Petition for Confirmation of Sale of Personal Property,' it clearly sets forth the agreement upon which the purchaser, Dale D. Clark, relies, attaches a copy of the agreement dated March 22nd, 1968. This Court has understood that the whole proceeding is for authority to perform the agreement entered into by the deceased.

"Isn't that your understanding?

"MR. CONDER: That's what I assumed they'd want to do. I want to make sure of the position, because I think the statute makes a difference between the two.

"THE COURT: Isn't that your understanding, Mr. Bird?

"MR. BIRD: Yes. Yes." (R-18, TR 4 and 5)

The trial was set for May 9, 1969, and the matter heard before the Honorable Charles G. Cowley. Exhibits "A" and "B," being copies of the agreement, were introduced into evidence and received by the Court. (TR. 3 and 5) The difference between Exhibits "A" and "B" consists simply of some additional writing on one copy

not contained on the other but both are executed copies of the same agreement, one being held by the Estate of A. L. Clark and the other one being held by Dale D. Clark.

At the trial and since the proceeding was one to enforce the "contract," the attorney representing the Objecters asserted that no claim had been filed pursuant to Sections 75-9-1 and 75-9-2 of the Utah Code Annotated 1953, and therefore the Court would have to dismiss the proceeding. There was no claim upon which the Court could act. (TR. 9 and 10) The attorney representing the Estate stated to the Court:

"MR PALMER: We are interested in knowing what we should do as an estate for this particular group of stock.

"THE COURT: You're letting these people do the fighting?

"MR. PALMER: This is correct. And this is our position.

"In other words, we have some stock on hand. There's a document that says it's been sold. We want to know what to do with it." (TR. 7)

After some discussion between Court and counsel, it was concluded that since Mr. Dale D. Clark was the one who was specifically interested in the enforcement of the "contract" he should go forward with his proof in the case. Mr. Bird then put in the exhibit, a copy of the agreement, and rested. (TR. 26). At that time, the Court then stated:

"THE COURT: (interposing) Well, the agreement was to be performed in the future when it was signed?

"MR. BIRD: Yes. The delivery of the stock.

**"THE COURT:** The delivery of the stock was to be in the future, and delivery of the money for the stock was to be in the future?

**"MR. BIRD:** Yes.

**"THE COURT:** Correct?

**"MR. BIRD:** Yes, sir." (TR. 27)

Mr. Bird, as counsel for Dale D. Clark, then determined that perhaps he should put on some evidence regarding the demand to be made pursuant to the terms of the instrument. Mr. Dale D. Clark testified that during the lifetime of his father there was never any demand made upon him for performance of the agreement (TR. 29), and that after the death of his father there has been no demand upon upon him for the performance of the agreement (TR. 29).

The agreement, shown on the face of Exhibits "A" and "B," was prepared by Mr. Bird as the attorney for Dale D. Clark. (TR. 36)

## POINTS RAISED ON APPEAL

1. UTAH'S NON-CLAIM STATUTE BARS ANY OBLIGATION OF THE EXECUTOR TO DALE D. CLARK ARISING UNDER THE "AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF STOCKS."
2. THE COURT IS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO DIRECT SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF STOCK.
3. THE ALLEGED AGREEMENT FOR THE SALE OF STOCK IS ILLUSORY AND LACKING IN OBLIGATION ON THE PART OF A. L. CLARK OR IS AT MOST AN OPTION TO SELL STOCK AT A CERTAIN SUM WHICH CEASED TO BE EFFECTIVE WITH

THE DEATH OF THE OPTIONEE, A. L. CLARK.

4. THE AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF STOCK FAILS AS A GIFT CAUSA MORTIS.

5. THE AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF STOCK FAILS AS A TESTAMENTARY DISPOSITION.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

UTAH'S NON-CLAIM STATUTE BARS ANY OBLIGATION OF THE EXECUTOR TO DALE D. CLARK ARISING UNDER THE "AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF STOCKS."

The Executor of the Estate of Amasa Lyman Clark filed a "Petition for Confirmation of Sale of Personal Property" on February 25, 1969. The attorney for the Estate said that he had filed the Petition to determine whether or not there was a valid agreement and to get instructions from the Court as to what to do. (TR. 12 and 18)

Neither Dale D. Clark nor anyone on his behalf filed any claim with the Estate within the time prescribed by our statute. The Utah statute is very clear on the point. 75-9-4, UCA 1953, provides as follows:

"All claims arising upon contract, whether the same are due, not due or contingent, must be presented within the time limited in the notice, and *any claim not presented is barred forever; . . .*"  
(Emphasis added)

Dale D. Clark's position is based upon an alleged contract. This is the very foundation of his action. His whole position is that he has a contract which he seeks to have enforced. Bancroft's *Probate Practice*, 2d Ed., Vol 3, Sec. 768, p. 503, states:

“ . . . The clear effect of such provisions, as shown in succeeding sections, is to make presentment or filing in probate of every ‘claim’ which falls within the contemplation of the statutes above referred to an absolute condition precedent to maintaining an action thereon against the executor or administrator, barring forever all claims not so presented within the period of the local statute of non-claim. Frequently even the revivor of actions pending against the decedent at the time of his death is precluded by express statute unless claim on the cause of action is first presented or filed as any other demand.”

The language in the statute admits of no exceptions. All claims arising on contract must be presented, and this is so whether they are due or whether they are not due or whether they are only contingent. The Utah cases have so held. *In re Anjewierdens Estate*, 13 Utah 2d 378, 374 P. 2d 845 (1962); *Halloran-Judge Trust Co. v. Heath*, 70 Utah 124, 258 Pac. 342 (1927); *In re Agees Estate*, 69 Utah 130, 252 Pac. 891 (1927); and *In re Neff's Estate*, 8 Utah 2d 368, 335 P.2d 403 (1959).

In *In re Anjewierdens Estate*, the claim was actually received by the Executor or Probate Court several days after the expiration of the time for filing claims and the delay had resulted solely from failure of the claimant's attorney to mail the claim to the proper address. The delay was nevertheless held fatal to the claim. In *In re Agees Estate*, the Court held the provisions of the statutes requiring timely presentation of contract claims and prompt suit after presentation were jurisdictional in nature and that the Probate Court was without power to allow claims not made in compliance therewith. In *In*

re *Neff's Estate*, the Plaintiff had filed a suit before the death of the decedent. Even though the action was pending at the death of the decedent so that the decedent's Administrator and other parties interested would have had notice of it, the Court nevertheless held the statutes requiring presentation and claims to the Estate had to be complied with and that failure to so comply barred enforcement of the Judgment against the Estate, even though the Administrator had appeared in the action and defended it. The head note in this case clearly reflects the decision where it says:

“Where creditor filed unverified complaint against father and son, partners, complaint was pending at father's death and administrator of father's estate was substituted as a party defendant, that no claim was filed within time given creditors to file, judgment rendered against administrator of father's estate was not enforceable against the father's estate.”

It is clear that the statute is mandatory even when a contract is still executory following the death of the decedent. In *Halloran-Judge Trust Co. v. Heath*, supra, the decedent's Executors had taken over management of a building after the death of the decedent in violation of a contract decedent had made with Plaintiff, under which Plaintiff was to manage the building. The Plaintiff failed to present a claim to the Estate's Executors prior to the commencement of suit and the Court denied Plaintiff recovery since his claim was a contingent claim within the terms of the Non-claim Statute and was barred, not having been properly presented. To the same effect are *Lieber v. Sherman*, 130 Colo. 216, 274 P.2d 816; *James v.*

*Corvin*, 184 Wash. 356, 51 P.2d 689; and *Lundy v. Lemp*, 32 Idaho 162, 179 Pac. 738. The cases are collected in annotations appearing in 41 ALR 144 and 47 ALR 896.

In *Lundy v. Lemp*, the purchaser of real estate under a contract with a decedent failed to present a claim to decedent's Executor. The purchaser had not fully paid the purchase price when the seller died. The Court held the purchaser's suit barred by the Non-claim Statute and also by the purchaser's failure to present his claim to the Executor prior to commencing suit.

Counsel for Dale D. Clark argues that the Executor was aware of this claim. We submit, however, that the mere knowledge of the Executor that someone is orally asserting a claim is insufficient.

The Utah Supreme Court in the case of *Clayton v. Dinwoodey*, 33 Utah 251, 93 Pac. 723, 14 Ann. Cas. 926, had before it the question of whether or not a claim for taxes due the Estate had to be presented to the Court pursuant to the statute cited. The Utah Supreme Court said:

"Had the claim here been barred by the general statute of limitations, or by the special statute, such as where a claim had been presented and rejected by the executors and suit was not commenced within the time provided by the statute, or where no claim had been presented nor suit commenced within the time in which a claim would have been properly presented, the bar of the statute would be a complete defense. . . . (Emphasis added)

In the *Dinwoodey* case, the Supreme Court held that the filing of a verified Complaint within the time pre-

scribed constituted a sufficient claim. In the subsequent case of *In re: Jones Estate*, (1940), 99 Utah 373, 104 P. 2d 210, at p. 212, the Supreme Court again cited the *Dinwoodey* case and said:

"In *Clayton v. Dinwoodey*, 33 Utah 251, 93 P. 723, 14 Ann. Cas. 926, we used this language: 'Mere knowledge on the part of the executor or administrator of the existence of a debt \* \* \* is not sufficient to dispense with the necessity of presentation. \* \* \* the defense that the claim is barred by the statute of limitations cannot be waived by the executor or administrator.'"

At the trial, Dale D. Clark's counsel argued that the nonfilling of the claim was not timely raised. We submit, however, that this is something that cannot be waived and thus goes to the very heart of this issue of whether or not there is any "agreement" that can be specifically enforced by the Court.

In the *Clayton v. Dinwoodey* case, this Court said:

"... This principle, however, must not be confused with that involved, where the claim is barred by the general statute of limitations, and because of the bar cannot be allowed by the executor or administrator or the judge, as provided in section 3857, or where the claim was neither presented nor suit commenced within the time in which the claim could properly have been presented. For the defense that the claim is barred by the statute of limitations cannot be waived by the executor or administrator. *Fullerton v. Bailey*, 17 Utah, 85, 53 Pac. 1020; *Reay v. Heazelton*, 128 Cal. 335, 60 Pac. 977."

This Court has previously held on several occasions that the statute of limitations cannot be waived by the



Executor even though it is not pleaded as a defense. The case of *Gulbranson v. Thompson*, 118 Utah 452, 222 Pac. 590, held:

“It is next contended that plaintiff’s claim is barred by our general statute of limitations except as to those services that were rendered within the four years immediately preceding the death of plaintiff’s mother, our statute barring actions upon express or implied oral agreements or accounts, where an action is not brought within four years after the conclusion of the services or the last item of an account. Plaintiff’s counsel, however, insists that this defense is not available to the defendant, for the reason that the statute of limitations was not pleaded in the answer. If this were an action between two living adversaries, then, according to the decisions of this court counsel’s contention would be sound. In view, however, that the action is against the administrator of a deceased person’s estate for a claim arising during the lifetime of the deceased, the general rule that the statute must be pleaded in order to be available does not apply. This court has at least in two cases expressly held that an administrator cannot waive the defense of the statute of limitations under our statute, *and hence his failure to plead the same cannot avail the claimant*. Fullerton v. Bailey, 17 Utah 85, 53 Pac. 1020; Clayton v. Dinwoodey, 33 Utah 251, 93 Pac. 723, 14 Ann. Cas. 926. Such is also the rule in California. Reay v. Heazelton, 128 Cal. 335, 60 Pac. 977, and cases there cited.” (Emphasis added)

It follows that inasmuch as Dale D. Clark failed to present a claim of any nature whatever to the Executor within the time limited by the Notice to Creditors he is now barred from obtaining any relief under the Agreement for Sale of Stocks executed by the decedent.

## POINT II

THE COURT IS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO DIRECT SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF STOCK.

*A. Proper pleadings are a jurisdictional prerequisite to the determination of a claim for specific performance under Section 75-11-26 through 75-11-31, UCA 1953.*

Section 75-11-27, UCA 1953, provides:

*"On the presentation of a verified petition by any person claiming to be entitled to such conveyance, assignment, transfer or delivery from an executor or administrator, setting forth the facts upon which the claim is predicated, the Court or Clerk must appoint a time and place for hearing the petition, which shall be upon notice." (Emphasis added)*

Section 75-11-28 refers to a full hearing "upon the petition and objections" and Section 75-11-29, UCA 1953, refers to "the petitioner." In *Rogers v. Nichols*, 75 Utah 290, 284 Pac. 992 (1930), no proper petition to the Probate Court for a Decree of Specific Performance had been made by a claimant who asserted his entitlement to a conveyance of real property. The Probate Court had nevertheless decreed specific performance, assuming the issue was before it on certain Affidavits and other papers. The Utah Supreme Court held the Probate Court entirely without proper jurisdiction to direct specific performance of a contract to sell real property where no proper pleadings had been presented in the Probate Court and, in particular, where no Petition had been filed by the

buyer for such relief. Similarly, in *Free v. Little*, 31 Utah 449; 88 Pac. 407 (1907), the Supreme Court held the failure to file the Verified Petition as required by statute within the time limits proved fatal to the right of specific performance, even though under the terms of the contract the time for buyer's performance had not expired when the seller's Estate was probated.

Dale D. Clark has never filed a Verified Petition here, in and has made no Petition nor filed any pleading in the Probate Court requesting a Decree of Specific Performance. The only Petition filed is that of the Executor and that Petition is wholly out of order and is not in proper form.

No proper pleadings having been presented to the Probate Court, the Probate Court is without jurisdiction to further proceed.

*B. Deceased was not bound by contract to convey or transfer anything to Dale D. Clark as required by Section 75-11-26, UCA 1953.*

Section 75-11-26, UCA 1953, provides:

*“When a person who is bound by contract in writing to convey any real estate or who is bound by contract in writing to assign, transfer or deliver any personal property, shares of capital stock, bonds or other choses in action, dies before making the conveyance, assignment, transfer or delivery; and in all cases when such decedent if living, might be compelled to make such conveyance, assignment, transfer or delivery, the court may make a decree authorizing his executor or administrator to convey such real estate, or to*

assign, transfer or deliver such personal property, shares of capital stock, bonds or other choses in action, to the person entitled thereto." (Emphasis added)

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