1970

In The Matter of the Estate Of Amasa Lyman Clark, Also Known As A. L. Clark : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 6

POINTS 1 AND 2 WERE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE DISTRICT COURT.

The case came on for trial on May 9, 1969 on the issues raised by the original Petition for Confirmation of Sale (R-1,2), the "Objection" (R-4), the "Answer to Objection" (R-6), the "Amended Objection" (R-8, filed April 15, 1969) and the ruling of Judge Swan on April 22, 1969 (R-18, p. 5: "the Court could make an order at this time that this is a proceeding to authorize the executor to perform a contract entered into by the deceased during his lifetime.") The Order is supplied as a second supplement to the record and make the issue of specific performance plain.

On May 9 the Executor offered in evidence the agreement (Tr. 3) and then the appellants moved to dismiss the proceeding because "no petition for any determination" had been filed by the respondent and also because "no claim has been filed with the estate" (Tr. 8, lines 17 and 22).

Respondent objected to both issues as not timely raised and not raised by the executor, whose right it was to object (Tr. 11).

Judge Swan had fixed the issues for trial as being for specific performance over the objections in paragraphs (a) to (e) of the Amended Objections, paragraph (f) being stricken (R-18, p. 5, lines 26 to 29 of the record of April 22 hearings). See Finding of Fact 4, Conclusions of Law 5 and 6 (R-11 and 12).

Failure to file a claim could of course be raised at the trial if jurisdictional.

POINT 1

UTAH'S NON-CLAIM STATUTE IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS PROCEEDING.

Respondents admit that where there are no special circumstances and no facts taking the case out of 75-9-4 UCA 1953, the Utah cases hold that certain claims must be presented within the time provided. The Utah cases cited hold nothing more and involve no facts analogous to the facts of this case. *In Re Anjewierdens Estate*, 13 Utah 2d 378, 374, Pacific 2d 845, it was held

that mailing to the wrong address was not a sufficient filing and did not excuse filing; *In Re Neff's Estate*, 8 Utah 2d 368, 335 P.2d 403, stands for the proposition that the pendency of an action at the time of death of one of the parties is not a substitute for filing a claim in the estate; *In Re Agees Estates*, 69 Utah 130, 252 P. 891, it is held that an attorney has a lien against the product of litigation conducted by him, and that even though the funds are in the hands of the executor, the lien applies and his action therefore is not barred by the provisions of the non-claim statute; in *Halloran-Judge Trust Co. vs. Heath*, 70 Utah 124, 258 P. 342, it is held that a contract to manage a building for ten years, during which ten year period the owner died, had to be filed as a contingent claim and was barred under the statute for non-filing.

The appellants also cite cases from Colorado, Washington and Idaho, and refer to annotations in 41 ALR 144 and 47 ALR 896. *Lieber vs. Sherman*, (Colorado 1954) 274 P.2d 816 simply holds that a lessor's claim for rent was not an expense of administration and therefore required the filing of a claim; *James vs. Corvin* (Washington 1935) 51 P.2d 689 simply holds that a lessor must file a claim for rent not yet due against the estate of a lessee. In *Lundy vs. Lemp*, (Idaho 1919) 179 P. 738, there was a contract to convey land which had been partially paid when the grantor died. No claim was filed and the court held that no action could be maintained, the statute there requiring filing of "any

claim against an estate." The statute is so broad as to be no precedent in this case.

In 41 ALR 144 where objectors say the cases are "collected" there are no cases in point.

Respondents submit that with the death of A. L. Clark the rights reserved to A. L. Clark ceased and the stock belonged to Dale D. Clark, subject only to payment of money.

It must be borne in mind that the executor here is making no objection to the delivery of the stock upon payment of the funds (Tr. 18, lines 17 to 29, also Tr. p. 2), and no issue as to filing a claim was raised by the estate or by the objectors by their objections or preserved in the order of Judge Swan.

Respondent's position is that the executor is prepared to perform and has constantly indicated to respondent that it will perform and that the right of respondent to the stock is not a claim required to be filed. (Tr. 12, lines 27 to 30; See also testimony of respondent, Tr. 29 to 32).

This position has general support. In 31 Am. Jur. 2d Title "Executors and Administrators" at Section 276 on page 143 this statement is made:

"Presentation of a claim or demand has been held unnecessary in actions to quiet title to real or personal property, actions for specific performance of a contract to convey, actions for the recovery of a specific property * * *"

At Section 318 on page 158:

“Thus, it is not only within the power of an executor or administrator to complete a contract made by his decedent, it is his duty to carry out the contract. If he fails to perform a contract of his decedent which is binding on the estate, he may be compelled to pay damages out of the assets in his hands.”

It is the position of respondent and evidently the position of the executor and the District Court that Dale Clark, having given valuable consideration to A. L. Clark, which was received and acknowledged by A. L. Clark, has purchased the bank stock, and has such an interest that the estate does not have clear title and the claim of Dale Clark is in the nature of an action for specific performance, to declare a lien, or to compel delivery of the property. (Decree of Specific Performance R-13-14).

The non-claim statute (U.C.A. 75-9-4) concludes:

“Provided further, that nothing in this title contained shall be so construed as to prohibit the foreclosure of liens or mortgages as hereinafter provided.”

Section 75-9-11, after requiring that an action shall not be maintained unless a claim is first filed then says:

“Except that an action may be brought without notice by any holder of a mortgage or lien to enforce the same against the property of the estate subject thereto, where all recourse against any other property of the estate is expressly waived in the complaint * * *”

Thus it appears that an action for specific performance or to compel delivery of personal property is not treated at all under the claim section of the statute but appears in Chapter 11 of Title 75, Section 26 of which provides that where a person dies being

“bound by contract in writing to assign, transfer or deliver any personal property, shares of capital stock, bonds or other choses in action” and where the decedent if living “might be compelled to make such conveyance, assignment, transfer or deliver such personal property, shares of capital stock, bonds or other choses in action, to the person entitled thereto.”

Under a similar statute the Idaho Supreme Court has held that the correct procedure is not by filing a claim but by application to the probate court for a decree. *Blake vs. Lemp*, 32 Idaho 158, 179 Pac. 737.

The subject of presentation of claims before bringing action is annotated at 34 A.L.R. 362, in which it is said at page 383 as the general rule:

“It has been held that a statute requiring presentation of a claim does not apply where the claim is one for the recovery of specific property.

to which a number of cases are cited. And at page 385 it is stated also that a suit to compel specific performance does not require the filing of a claim as a prerequisite.

It was also held by the District Court that the bank stock belongs to Dale Clark as a matter of agreement on March 22, 1968, which was a present contract trans-

ferring the stock to Dale, but reserving the right of A. L. Clark to use it and to hold title until his death and precluding him from making any use of the stock inconsistent with the sale to Dale, or of delivering any of the stock to any other person or agreeing so to do. The estate is now in a position where it must dispose of the bank stock and it is precluded by the contract of A. L. Clark from disposing of it to any person other than Dale D. Clark. If A. L. Clark were living and desired to dispose of the stock he could be compelled by Dale D. Clark to deliver the stock to him and to no other person in exchange for which the payment would be made.

To support the proposition that A. L. Clark during his lifetime was not required to do anything under this agreement, the objectors at page 7 include the following citations:

“In *Wilson v. Fackrell*, 34 P. 2d 409 (Idaho 1934), the Court held that ‘in order for appellant to be entitled to relief sought the proof must show the decedent was bound, by contract in writing, to convey . . . and that it was such a contract that he, if living might be compelled to make the conveyance.’ 34 Pac. 2d at 411. See also *In re Lewis Estate*, 98 P.2d 654 (Wash. 1940).”

These two cases have no support for the appellants but rather support the position of respondent. The language quoted in appellants' Brief at page 16 is indeed language found in the opinion in *Wilson vs. Fackrell*,

but it is simply a paraphrase of the statute in Idaho which is Section 15-1001 and is similar to the Utah statute, except that the Idaho statute is limited to real estate. The facts in *Wilson* were that one Fackrell prepared a contract of sale to his sister, Annie F. Wilson, calling for sale of property for \$2,000.00, endorsed on the back of it a receipt for \$2,000.00 and put both in an envelope which he handed to the "grantee." The sister did not read the contract, did not sign it, and did not know what it contained until after the death of Fackrell. The District Court, upon trial as a Probate Court refused specific performance, holding that Wilson had shown only an executory contract and not an enforceable contract. The Supreme Court held that there was a completed gift inter vivos and therefore an executed contract which was enforceable and indicated by the opinion and by the authorities cited therein that it is the obligation of the Court to carry out the indicated intention of the deceased if possible and ordered a new trial on that theory.

In re Lewis Estate likewise is a holding that the intention of the deceased shall be carried out. There the owners of property made a conveyance and took a mortgage back providing for payment by installments with the provision that if any sum remained due and owing upon the death of the grantor-mortgagee the note and mortgage should be declared null and void. The issue arose in the Probate Court on whether the mortgage was valid or should be cancelled by the executor.

tor who was also the "mortgagor." The executor had cancelled the mortgage with approval of the Court, and then upon objections of creditors the Court had reversed itself and ordered the mortgage reinstated and paid. From this an appeal was taken and the Supreme Court again reversed and held that the mortgage was properly cancelled and that the provision of the contract that the balance should be cancelled as to any amount remaining upon the death of grantor was an enforceable provision. The Court carefully reviews other cases, viewing the problem as an unusual one. The Court concludes:

"In this case it is clear from the initial agreement and all the subsequent instruments that the dominant purpose of the decedent was to enter into a contract for the sale of his property on definitely expressed terms. There was consideration for the contract, and mutual performance by the parties. We see no reason why persons should not enter into such an undertaking nor any reason why the Court should interfere with their expressed intention, in the absence of any fraud * * *. Had the note and mortgage been fully paid before death, satisfaction of record could have been compelled by the party entitled thereto under the contract. Since the decedent's death marked the termination of the obligation under the contract, the appellant was entitled to the same relief." (Page 658 of 98 P.2d).

It is not a prerequisite to stating a claim for specific performance against an estate to allege that the peti-

tioner filed a claim before filing the petition or before bringing an action for a specific performance.

In *Gammon vs. Bunnell*, 22 U 421, 64 P. 948, the case was heard on the demurrer to the complaint. The District Court held and the Supreme Court affirmed that a cause of action was stated in a complaint for a specific performance which alleged the filing of a petition in the Probate Court and the dismissal there without prejudice and the essential elements of the claim for specific performance on the merits. There was no allegation of filing a claim with the executor or in the estate. Likewise, in *Free vs. Little*, 31 U 449, 88 P. 407, the Court ruled that a specific performance action was not maintainable where there had not first been a petition filed with the Probate Court and denied there without prejudice, with no statement as to a requirement of first filing a claim in the Probate Court.

POINT 2

THE ISSUE OF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE WAS PROPERLY BEFORE THE DISTRICT COURT.

Respondent's Point 6 urges that this issue was not timely raised, as the District Court held.

The Executor here filed a verified petition in substantial compliance with Section 75-11-27 U.C.A. 1953.

The District Court, with all parties represented, on

April 22, 1969, ordered the case to trial on the issue of specific performance (Supplement record).

The appellants' Brief in its Point II chooses to call this "a jurisdictional prerequisite." The only case cited which is helpful on this subject is *Rogers vs. Nichols*, 75 Utah 290, 284 P. 992. But that case was far from the facts of this one. There an objection was made to the final account of the executor in which it was suggested that title should be quieted to part of the property and the Court granted specific performance to a contract without any request therefor in any pleading. There is no statement that no objection was made to this conduct of the Court and nothing there is precedent for the situation here where there have been pleadings filed by the parties and merged in an order of the Court which specifically states that the matter to be determined on the trial is "that this matter is to be considered by the parties and by the Court as a proceeding for the specific performance of a contract of the Decedent and is not a confirmation of a sale by the Executor under the provisions of 75-10-8, U.C.A. 1953." It thus appears that with the acquiescence of the parties and after the filing of pleadings the Court has made a determination that the proceeding is under Section 75-11-26 and no objection was made to that by any pleading or notice.

Furthermore, no time limit is dictated in Section 75-11-27 and if the Court regards the objection as timely and as important, the petition can now be filed. The Executor has in effect waved the requirement of the

petition by itself filing a verified petition seeking authority to deliver the property.

POINT 3

THE AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF STOCK IS NOT ILLUSORY AND IS NOT AN OPTION, BUT A BINDING AGREEMENT.

The contract between A. L. Clark and his son, Dale D. Clark, executed March 22, 1968 is classified as a "bilateral" contract, which is defined as one involving promises on the part of both parties thereto. 17 Am. Jur. 2d, Contracts Section 5, p. 339 — *Restatement of Contracts*, Section 12, *Williston on Contracts*, 3d ed., Sec. 13.

It is said in *Manwill vs. Oyler*, 11 Utah 2d, 433, that in order to have a valid and binding contract, each party must be bound to give some legal consideration to the other by conferring a benefit upon him or suffering a legal detriment at his request.

In this case each party gave to the other valuable and binding consideration.

A. L. Clark received first what he requested of respondent, i.e. an agreed settlement of a lawsuit between Dale and one Howard S. Clark. Secondly, he sold to Dale Clark 530 shares of stock of the Davis County Bank for \$60.00 per share reserving the right to vote, control and own said stock for his lifetime or

until he should be paid in full for said stocks following tender and demand by him for payment.

To analyze this last consideration, A. L. Clark had the right to hold said stock during his lifetime and by the promises of respondent he could demand \$60.00 a share irrespective of whether the market value of said stock fell below or rose above \$60.00. This was the right A. L. Clark bargained for and respondent gave at the time the contract was signed by both parties.

Without question, A. L. Clark sold this stock to Dale D. Clark, reserving only for his lifetime a right to vote the stock and control same. At his death his reservation ended in accordance with the plain contract language and then the stock upon payment of \$31,800.00 would be delivered absolutely to respondent.

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